# Cumulative Effects of Threats on At-Risk Species Habitat in the Fraser Valley, British Columbia

Lindsey Boyd, Paul Grant, Jeffrey Lemieux, Josephine C. lacarella

Fisheries and Oceans Canada Science Branch, Pacific Region Cultus Lake Laboratory Cultus Lake, British Columbia V2R 5B6

2022

Canadian Manuscript Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 3243





#### **Canadian Manuscript Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences**

Manuscript reports contain scientific and technical information that contributes to existing knowledge but which deals with national or regional problems. Distribution is restricted to institutions or individuals located in particular regions of Canada. However, no restriction is placed on subject matter, and the series reflects the broad interests and policies of Fisheries and Oceans Canada, namely, fisheries and aquatic sciences.

Manuscript reports may be cited as full publications. The correct citation appears above the abstract of each report. Each report is abstracted in the data base *Aquatic Sciences and Fisheries Abstracts*.

Manuscript reports are produced regionally but are numbered nationally. Requests for individual reports will be filled by the issuing establishment listed on the front cover and title page.

Numbers 1-900 in this series were issued as Manuscript Reports (Biological Series) of the Biological Board of Canada, and subsequent to 1937 when the name of the Board was changed by Act of Parliament, as Manuscript Reports (Biological Series) of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada. Numbers 1426 - 1550 were issued as Department of Fisheries and Environment, Fisheries and Marine Service Manuscript Reports. The current series name was changed with report number 1551.

#### Rapport manuscrit canadien des sciences halieutiques et aquatiques

Les rapports manuscrits contiennent des renseignements scientifiques et techniques qui constituent une contribution aux connaissances actuelles, mais qui traitent de problèmes nationaux ou régionaux. La distribution en est limitée aux organismes et aux personnes de régions particulières du Canada. II n'y a aucune restriction quant au sujet; de fait, la série reflète la vaste gamme des intérêts et des politiques de Pêches et Océans Canada, c'est-à-dire les sciences halieutiques et aquatiques.

Les rapports manuscrits peuvent être cités comme des publications à part entière. Le titre exact figure au-dessus du résumé de chaque rapport. Les rapports manuscrits sont résumés dans la base de données *Résumés des sciences aquatiques et halieutiques*.

Les rapports manuscrits sont produits à l'échelon régional, mais numérotés à l'échelon national. Les demandes de rapports seront satisfaites par l'établissement auteur dont le nom figure sur la couverture et la page du titre.

Les numéros 1 à 900 de cette série ont été publiés à titre de Manuscrits (série biologique) de l'Office de biologie du Canada, et après le changement de la désignation de cet organisme par décret du Parlement, en 1937, ont été classés comme Manuscrits (série biologique) de l'Office des recherches sur les pêcheries du Canada. Les numéros 901 à 1425 ont été publiés à titre de Rapports manuscrits de l'Office des recherches sur les pêcheries du Canada. Les numéros 1426 à 1550 sont parus à titre de Rapports manuscrits du Service des pêches et de la mer, ministère des Pêches et de l'Environnement. Le nom actuel de la série a été établi lors de la parution du numéro 1551.

Canadian Manuscript Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 3243

2022

# CUMULATIVE EFFECTS OF THREATS ON AT-RISK SPECIES HABITAT IN THE FRASER VALLEY, BRITISH COLUMBIA

Lindsey Boyd, Paul Grant, Jeffrey Lemieux, Josephine C. Iacarella

Fisheries and Oceans Canada Cultus Lake Laboratory 4222 Columbia Valley Rd Cultus Lake, BC V2R 5B6 © Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, 2022.

Cat. No. Fs97-4/3243E-PDF ISBN 978-0-660-43119-2 ISSN 1488-5387

Correct citation for this publication:

Boyd, L., Grant, P., Lemieux, J. and Iacarella, J.C. 2022. Cumulative Effects of Threats on At-Risk Species Habitat in the Fraser Valley, British Columbia. Can. Manuscr. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 3243: viii + 65 p.

# **Table of Contents**

LIST OF TABLES	iv
LIST OF FIGURES	v
ABSTRACT	vii
RÉSUMÉ	viii
INTRODUCTION	1
METHODS	3
Study Area	3
Species and Habitat	4
Threat Identification	4
Threat Analysis and Mapping	7
Flow Accumulated Threats	8
Sedimentation	9
Nutrients	10
Pollution	11
Aquatic Invasive Species	12
Habitat Fragmentation	12
Riparian Zone Disturbance	
Physical Destruction of Aquatic Habitat	
Threat and Cumulative Effect Scoring	14
RESULTS	14
DISCUSSION	
Recommendations for Future Cumulative Effect Assessments	
Conclusions for Management	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

### LIST OF TABLES

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Study area extent in the Fraser Valley region with added buffer of 1:20,000 scale Freshwater Atlas Assessment watersheds to account for threats that have downstream effects
Figure 2.	Pathway of Effects framework showing the connections of landscape disturbances, threats, and ecological components in the Fraser Valley, BC. The cumulative effect assessment presented here was conducted for the landscape-driven threats (light green boxes), and environmental and harvest threats (white boxes) are in development for future assessments
Figure 3:	Stream reaches with associated catchment areas (dashed lines). Stream reach A would have a sedimentation threat score of 0, reach B would score 0.67, and reach C would score 0.33 (proportion of impacted cells per catchment area). The larger catchment area of reach C dilutes the landscape disturbance inputs from upstream
Figure 4:	Cumulative effect scores for the Fraser Valley, BC stream network. Low cumulative effect stream reaches are in blue, and high cumulative effect stream reaches are in red
Figure 5:	Agricultural (brown) and urban (dark grey) land cover within the Fraser Valley, BC15
Figure 6:	Scaled mean threat scores (0-1) for the stream network across the Fraser Valley (dark grey) and within important habitat of eight at-risk fish species (light grey). Bars are mean $\pm 1$ SE
Figure 7:	Stacked mean threat scores for at-risk species habitats. The top of the bar represents the mean cumulative effect score
Figure 8. (	Chinook Salmon habitat (white outline) mean cumulative effect scores. The inset shows the location of the habitat patch within the Fraser Valley
Figure 9. I	Mountain Sucker habitat (white outline) mean cumulative effect scores. The inset shows the location of the habitat patch within the Fraser Valley
Figure 10	• Coastrange Sculpin habitat (white outline) mean cumulative effect scores. The inset shows the location of the habitat patch within the Fraser Valley20

#### ABSTRACT

Boyd, L., Grant, P., Lemieux, J. and Iacarella, J.C. 2022. Cumulative Effects of Threats on At-Risk Species Habitat in the Fraser Valley, British Columbia. Can. Manuscr. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 3243: viii + 65 p.

Freshwater species are experiencing the cumulative effect of numerous habitat threats from anthropogenic and natural disturbances on the landscape. In particular, a variety of threats have been attributed to declines in freshwater fish populations in the Fraser Valley, British Columbia, Canada with some declines severe enough to warrant designation as Species At Risk. However, our understanding of where these threats are most critical, and subsequently how and where to manage them, is limited for freshwater systems. We conducted a cumulative effect assessment to identify levels of landscape-based threats for habitat of at-risk fish species in relation to the extent of the Fraser Valley to begin developing priorities for management of threats and fish habitat. We performed this assessment for eight at-risk fish species with important habitat in the Fraser Valley (Salish Sucker, Nooksack Dace, Mountain Sucker, White and Green Sturgeon, Coastrange Sculpin, Sockeye, and Chinook Salmon) and seven key habitat threats (pollution, sedimentation, nutrients, riparian disturbance, aquatic habitat destruction, aquatic invasive species, and habitat fragmentation). We applied spatial data of landscape disturbances to estimate threat levels locally (e.g., barriers to passage) or based on upstream catchment area and flow accumulation (e.g., nutrients). We evaluated threats levels individually and as an additive cumulative effect score for each species' habitat to determine which threats may be the most problematic and which species and habitats are likely experiencing the greatest impacts. For instance, Nooksack Dace and Salish Sucker had the highest cumulative effect score in their habitat, with pollution as the most prominent contributing threat. This information can be used by managers to identify specific habitats and threats that may be of immediate concern in the protection and remediation of at-risk species habitat.

#### RÉSUMÉ

Boyd, L., Grant, P., Lemieux, J. and Iacarella, J. 2022. Cumulative Effects of Threats on at-risk Species Habitat in the Fraser Valley, British Columbia. Can. Manuscr. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 3243: viii + 65 p.

Les espèces d'eau douce subissent l'effet cumulatif de nombreuses menaces sur l'habitat découlant de perturbations anthropiques et naturelles dans le paysage. Plus particulièrement, on a attribué diverses menaces au déclin des populations de poissons d'eau douce dans la vallée du Fraser (Colombie-Britannique, Canada), certains déclins étant suffisamment graves pour justifier la désignation d'espèces en péril. Cependant, notre compréhension des endroits où ces menaces sont les plus critiques, et par conséquent comment et où les gérer, est limitée pour les systèmes d'eau douce. Nous avons effectué une évaluation des effets cumulatifs afin de déterminer les niveaux des menaces à l'échelle du paysage pour l'habitat des espèces de poissons en péril par rapport à l'étendue de la vallée du Fraser, et ce, dans le but de commencer à établir des priorités pour la gestion des menaces et de l'habitat des poissons. Nous avons réalisé cette évaluation pour huit espèces de poissons en péril dont l'habitat est important dans la vallée du Fraser (meunier de Salish, naseux de Nooksack, meunier des montagnes, esturgeon blanc et vert, chabot côtier, saumon rouge et saumon chinook) et sept menaces clés pour l'habitat (pollution, sédimentation, nutriments, perturbation des berges, destruction de l'habitat aquatique, espèces aquatiques envahissantes et fragmentation de l'habitat). Nous avons appliqué les données spatiales des perturbations du paysage pour estimer les niveaux de menace à l'échelle locale (p. ex. les obstacles au passage) ou en fonction du bassin versant en amont et de l'accumulation des débits (p. ex. les nutriments). Nous avons évalué les niveaux de menace individuellement et sous la forme d'un score d'effet cumulatif additif pour l'habitat de chaque espèce en vue de déterminer quelles menaces peuvent être les plus problématiques et quelles espèces et quels habitats sont les plus susceptibles de subir les effets les plus importants. Par exemple, le naseux de Nooksack et le meunier de Salish avaient le score d'effet cumulatif le plus élevé dans leur habitat, la pollution constituant la menace la plus importante. Les gestionnaires peuvent utiliser ces renseignements pour déterminer les habitats et les menaces spécifiques qui peuvent constituer une préoccupation immédiate dans la protection et la restauration de l'habitat des espèces en péril.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The Fraser Valley region of southwestern British Columbia (BC) is characterized by large floodplains between surrounding mountain ranges. The Fraser River mainstem is the major freshwater feature, extending along the valley floor and emptying into the Pacific Ocean at the Strait of Georgia. Many hydrologically connected lakes and streams are also present throughout the valley. Significant changes in land cover have occurred since European settlement in the region in 1827, including the increase in urban and agricultural land, and reduction of wetland and forested area (Boyle et al., 1997). Amid continued intensifying urbanization and agricultural practices, land, forest, and water resource use has increased and water quality in the Fraser Valley region has declined (Hall and Schreier, 1996; MacDonald 2005). Twenty-five years ago, it was already estimated that the great majority of pre-settlement streams in the Fraser Valley had been effectively lost through alteration and culverting, and the remaining streams were significantly altered through channelization, diversion, and riparian zone degradation (DFO, 1997). The Fraser Valley is among the fastest growing regions in BC (Statistics Canada, 2022), which places further strain on ecosystems in the region.

The Fraser River Basin is considered a 'Priority Area' by Fisheries and Oceans Canada for aquatic species at risk. The health of freshwater ecosystems within the Fraser Valley is important as it supports 31 freshwater fish species with a broad range of habitat needs to sustain viable populations. Of these fish species, ten are considered at-risk populations as of February 2022 by either the federal *Species At Risk Act* (SARA), and/or the Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC), which conducts assessments on all relevant species. Additionally, many at-risk salmonid populations rely on the region as spawning adults, and as rearing and out-migrating juveniles. Many of these at-risk species, particularly White Sturgeon and Chinook and Sockeye Salmon, are economically, culturally, and recreationally significant (DFO, 2020a).

Geospatial cumulative effect assessments are becoming an important tool for estimating the threat levels or impacts of simultaneous pressures on species and their habitats. The basis of these assessments is the mapping and quantification of human activities or threats that are known to impact a focal ecological component (Murray et al. 2020). Such cumulative effect assessments use spatial layers of human activities and landscape disturbances (hereafter both are referred to collectively as landscape disturbances) as proxies of pressures as this information is most readily available (Halpern and Fujita, 2013; Seitz et al. 2011). Marine and terrestrial, and also often freshwater, cumulative effect assessments generally apply direct overlays of landscape disturbances to an ecological component such as species' habitat. However, accurately estimating threats from landscape disturbance in freshwater systems requires consideration of accumulation downstream of disturbances (Beechie 2021; Linke et al. 2019). Once mapped, threats can be standardized as a risk score or binned into risk levels based on known thresholds or statistical data distributions and, in some cases, assigned vulnerability weightings based on expert opinion. The final cumulative effect score is typically a summation of the (weighted or unweighted) risk scores (Halpern and Fujita, 2013) or a further combination of the risk scores into binned cumulative effect levels (e.g., 'green', 'amber', 'red' levels; Conners et al., 2018;

Davidson et al., 2018). The final product of a geospatial cumulative effect assessment provides relative scores across a study area that enables identification of priority areas for management actions (Halpern and Fujita, 2013; Murray et al., 2020).

Freshwater cumulative effect assessments that have spatially encompassed, or been adjacent to the Fraser Valley region to-date include the Pacific Salmon Explorer from the Pacific Salmon Foundation (www.salmonexplorer.ca; Connors et al., 2018) and provincial assessments for the Elk Valley region in the Columbia River watershed (Davidson et al., 2018). These assessments identify and map landscape disturbances at the watershed level using direct overlays, either as proxies for rolled up impact categories (e.g., water quality) or as indicators that are then qualitatively related to potential threats, respectively. Estimating individual threats, such as sedimentation levels, for freshwater across a landscape ideally involves statistical or processbased spatial models and extensive in situ data for model parameterization and validation (Beechie, 2021). However, in situ data is greatly limiting for large spatial extents. Here, we advance current cumulative effect assessments for the region by (1) estimating threat levels based on downstream effects of landscape disturbances in relation to stream network flow direction and catchment size, (2) conducting the assessment at a stream reach resolution, and (3) evaluating a comprehensive list of threats identified as critical for at-risk fish in the region. Our assessment of freshwater habitat threats from landscape disturbances is a first step towards modeling threat levels and obtaining a more accurate picture of cumulative effects on fish habitat.

We evaluated threat levels from landscape disturbances (e.g., agriculture, forest fires) on important freshwater habitat for eight at-risk fish species in the Fraser Valley, BC to help guide prioritization of threat mitigation and habitat restoration. The species included Salish Sucker (*Catostomus* sp. cf. *catostomus*), Nooksack Dace (*Rinichthys cataractae* ssp.), Mountain Sucker (*Catostomus platyrhynchus*), White Sturgeon (*Acipenser transmontanus*), Green Sturgeon (*Acipenser medirostris*), Coastrange (Pygmy) Sculpin (*Cottus aleuticus*), Sockeye Salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*), and Chinook Salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). We focused on the seven key threats that impact the habitat of these species as reported by COSEWIC through expert review: pollution, sedimentation, nutrients, riparian disturbance, aquatic habitat destruction, Aquatic Invasive Species (AIS), and habitat fragmentation. We identify which threats contribute most to cumulative effect scores for each species' habitat and across species' habitats relative to the extent of the Fraser Valley, and provide maps of cumulative effect scores across habitats. We also highlight research gaps and next steps for cumulative effect analyses. In particular, merits and details of the spatial analysis methods used for estimating each threat are discussed in detail to contribute to development of future cumulative effect assessments.

#### **METHODS**

#### Study Area

We defined the Fraser Valley extent as the 200 m elevation contour from the estuary to Hope, BC. A hydrologically meaningful boundary was created by including all assessment watersheds delineated by the Freshwater Atlas (BC MOE, 2017) that intersected the elevation contour. The study area was then clipped to only include areas within the Fraser Basin up to the Canada/US border. An additional area was added in the southwestern portion of BC (part of the South Coast Rivers Watershed) to encompass Nooksack Dace habitat that would have been otherwise excluded (Figure 1). To account for the threats that are affected by upstream disturbances (sedimentation, nutrients, and pollution), a hydrological buffer of 1:20,000 assessment watersheds was added to the study area.



**Figure 1.** Study area extent in the Fraser Valley region with added buffer of 1:20,000 scale Freshwater Atlas Assessment watersheds to account for threats that have downstream effects.

#### Species and Habitat

We identified eight fish species that were listed under the *Species at Risk Act* (SARA) or assessed as threatened or endangered by the Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC), and were reliant on freshwater habitat in the Fraser Valley, as of November, 2021. Some species such as Eulachon were excluded from the study because the location and habitat use in their freshwater life stage is not well understood. Coho Salmon were also excluded as they pass through the study area, but do not have at-risk Designatable Units (DUs; defined by COSEWIC) within the study area.

We mapped important habitat along the stream network for each of the eight species using the best available data sources. Salish Sucker, Nooksack Dace, Mountain Sucker, Green Sturgeon, and Coastrange Sculpin habitats were mapped using DFO species distribution polygons for SARA-listed species. For White Sturgeon and salmon species, spawning locations were used to represent important habitat for adult spawners, egg incubation, and fry emergence. Provincial spawning location polygons were used to identify habitat patches for White Sturgeon. For the salmon species, only spawning habitat within threatened or endangered DUs were used. Spawning habitat for Chinook were developed from spawning lines originating from DFO and other sources, and provided online by the Pacific Salmon Explorer (www.salmonexplorer.ca; Connors et al., 2018). Spawning habitat for Sockeye were delineated from the Pacific Salmon Explorer spawning lines and DFO Stock Assessment spawning polygons. For all species, stream network lines that were encompassed or directly linked to polygons or lines were identified as species habitat. For habitat that was discontinuous along the stream network, connected stream reaches were grouped and numbered as distinct habitat patches.

#### **Threat Identification**

In order to identify the key threats impacting these species, we reviewed the most recent COSEWIC assessment and status reports for each species (COSEWIC, 2010, 2012, 2013, 2017, 2018, 2019). For Nooksack Dace and Salish Sucker, the most recent DFO recovery strategy reports were used to identify threats (DFO 2020b, 2020c) (Table 1). The overall importance of these threats was based on expert opinion and represents the current state of knowledge. Their relative importance for each species (i.e., the vulnerability of the species to a threat) has not yet been assessed.

Species	COSEWIC Status	Impacted Life Stage	Listed Freshwater Environment Threats
Salish Sucker*	Threatened	All	<ul> <li>-Hypoxia</li> <li>-Seasonal lack of water</li> <li>-Harmful substances</li> <li>-Sediment deposition</li> <li>-Habitat fragmentation</li> <li>-Physical destruction of habitat</li> <li>-Increased predation from aquatic invasive species</li> </ul>
Nooksack Dace*	Endangered	All	-Sediment deposition -Seasonal lack of water -Harmful substances -Physical destruction of habitat -Hypoxia -Riffle loss to impoundment -Habitat fragmentation
Mountain Sucker*	Pacific Populations: Special Concern	All	<ul> <li>-Habitat loss and degradation associated with the expansion of agricultural, commercial and industrial land use</li> <li>-Introduction of aquatic invasive species</li> <li>-Low flows and high temperatures from climate induced drought and surface water extractions</li> <li>-Gravel extraction</li> <li>-Dam and reservoir construction</li> </ul>
White Sturgeon	Lower Fraser River Population: Threatened	All	<ul> <li>-Habitat degradation and fragmentation from dam construction and changes to flow regime</li> <li>-Dikes, dredging, gravel mining, commercial fisheries by-catch, incidental mortality from catch-and-release recreational fisheries, declines in important forage fishes, and introduced species</li> </ul>
Green Sturgeon*	Special Concern	Feeding and migration refugia	-Water use (extraction, dams, diversions, flow regulation) -Land use (sediment) -Pollution (effluent discharges)
Coastrange Sculpin* (Pygmy Sculpin)	Cultus Lake Population: Endangered	All	<ul> <li>-Predation from Smallmouth Bass and other invasive species</li> <li>-Reduced hypolimnetic oxygen caused by human development and eutrophication</li> <li>-Increased epilimnetic temperatures</li> </ul>

**Table 1.** At-risk species included in the study and key threats (i.e., threats) identified byCOSEWIC. Species with an asterisk (\*) are listed under the Species at Risk Act.

Sockeye Salmon	River Type: -DU24 Widgeon: Threatened Lake Type: -DU10 Harrison Upstream: Endangered -DU6 Cultus Lake: Endangered	River Type DU 24: Spawn in river, fry head to estuary shortly after hatch Lake Type DU 10: Spawn in river, juveniles spend 1 year in Harrison Lake DU6: Adults enter the lake and remain for ~4 months before spawning. Juveniles spend 1 year in Cultus Lake	-Overfishing -Industrial effluents, landslides -Freshwater temperature extremes
Chinook Salmon	-DU2 LFR- Harrison: Threatened -DU4 LFR- Upper Pitt: Endangered -DU5 LFR- Summer: Threatened	DU2: Ocean-type; Spawn in river, head to estuary shortly after hatch DU4: Stream-type; Spawn and spend 1+ year in freshwater DU5: Stream-type; Spawn and spend 1+ year in freshwater	-Overharvest -Increased temperatures -Climate changes to flow regimes through reduced glacier size and altered precipitation and snowpack patterns -Pollutants from industrial discharge, storm water runoff, and sewage and agricultural runoff

COSEWIC-reported threats were linked to the contributing landscape disturbances in an areabased Pathway of Effects framework for the Fraser Valley (Murray et al., 2020). COSEWIC reports identified threats in the context of landscape disturbances, but did not always associate disturbances with specific threats. We applied linkages based on known disturbance-threatecological pathways from the primary literature (detailed below), where landscape disturbances can contribute to one or multiple threats. We focused this initial cumulative effect assessment on the landscape-driven threats, including aquatic invasive species, habitat fragmentation, physical destruction of aquatic habitat, riparian zone disturbance, pollution, sedimentation, and nutrients (Figure 2). Statistical models are in development for addressing water state threats including low water flow, high water temperature, hypoxia, and climate change (e.g., projected changes in water temperature and flow) for this region and will be applied to future cumulative effect assessments (D. Weller, J.C. Iacarella, unpublished data). Overharvest was not included within the scope of the assessment as this is not a habitat-specific threat. In order to fully investigate potential threats to the at-risk species within the region, all identified threats were applied across species whether or not they were specified for a particular species.



Landscape Disturbance

**Figure 2.** Pathway of Effects framework showing the connections of landscape disturbances, threats, and ecological components in the Fraser Valley, BC. The cumulative effect assessment presented here was conducted for the landscape-driven threats (light green boxes), and environmental and harvest threats (white boxes) are in development for future assessments.

#### Threat Analysis and Mapping

The analysis and mapping of threats was based on identifying landscape disturbances and development on the landscape (e.g., agriculture, paved roads) that are known to contribute to the threat in the freshwater environment, and calculating downstream effects when relevant. Spatial landscape disturbance data layers that were applied to each threat is detailed in Appendix A1.

The linear hydrologic network used for mapping and analyses was a union of rasterized BC Provincial Freshwater Atlas 1:20,000 stream network and a hydro-modelled stream network (D. Weller, unpublished data) with minimum catchment size of 0.25 km<sup>2</sup> and gridded at a 25 m resolution. This linear hydrologic network runs through connected lakes and large rivers (e.g., the Fraser River Mainstem) on the landscape. Specific hydrologic impacts from lakes and rivers

are complex and were not included in these analyses. Instead, we treated large rivers and lakes the same as streams so that we could assess important habitat in these systems (hereafter referred to as 'the stream network'); future models can be improved by addressing differences in threat accumulation between lakes, rivers, and streams. All mapped landscape disturbance data layers were subsequently rasterized and rescaled to a 25 m resolution as appropriate, and all threat outputs and cumulative effect scores were developed for the same 25 m grid. In order to make the data comparable to the other threats when added into the final cumulative effects scoring, the AIS and fragmentation scores were scaled between 1 and 0, where the highest value became 1 and lowest remained at 0. This was completed using the formula  $z_i = (x_i - \min(x))/\max(x) - \min(x)$ , where  $z_i$  is the normalized value,  $x_i$  is the i<sup>th</sup> value in the dataset,  $\min(x)$  is the minimum value in the dataset, and  $\max(x)$  is the maximum value in the dataset. At-risk species habitat patch data was subsequently overlaid to determine scoring for specific habitat areas, however calculations have been completed for all stream reaches within the Fraser Valley. All spatial analyses were completed using ArcGIS Pro version 2.8 (ESRI Redlands, CA).

#### Flow Accumulated Threats

Downstream effects of landscape disturbance were calculated for sedimentation, nutrient, and pollution threats. Threat values were calculated as a fraction of the upstream catchment area occupied by landscape disturbances that contributed to the focal threat in the downstream grid cell (Figure 3). For instance, a grid cell along a stream with a large upstream catchment area and few landscape disturbances would have a low threat value because those disturbances would become diluted. Conversely, streams with little upstream catchment area would be more heavily influenced by landscape disturbance. The Flow Accumulation tool in ArcGIS Pro was used to calculate the catchment size at each grid cell along the stream network (i.e., total area of land that drains into that cell) and the total number of cells with 'present' contributing landscape disturbances. Multiple contributing disturbances in a grid cell were treated as one 'presence' so as to not over-account for highly dense but localized disturbances in a catchment. The proportion of catchment area covered by a landscape disturbance that contributed to the threat at each stream network grid cell was then calculated. For example, if a grid cell along the stream network had an upstream catchment size of 10 km<sup>2</sup> and 1 km<sup>2</sup> of that catchment was classified with disturbances contributing to the threat, then the flow accumulated threat value would equal 0.1.



**Figure 3.** Stream reaches with associated catchment areas (dashed lines). Stream reach A would have a sedimentation threat score of 0, reach B would score 0.67, and reach C would score 0.33 (proportion of impacted cells per catchment area). The larger catchment area of reach C dilutes the landscape disturbance inputs from upstream.

#### Sedimentation

Sedimentation is a natural and necessary part of a healthy freshwater ecosystem, but altered landscapes create events and conditions for more frequent pulses and greater volumes of sediment to wash into water courses that can be deleterious to fish habitat. High levels of sediment can cause a variety of lethal and sublethal impacts for freshwater species including smothering incubating eggs (Scrivener and Brownlee, 1989) and altering foraging arenas and benthic vertebrate prey community composition (Champion et al., 2018; Shaw and Richardson, 2001). To determine areas on the landscape that contain disturbances that contribute to sedimentation, a land cover mosaic was created using (1) agricultural land cover, (2) mines, (3) maintained and unmaintained gravel roads, including forestry roads, (4) forested areas that were burned within the last ten years, and (5) forested areas that were harvested within the last ten years. This land cover mosaic was used in the flow accumulation methods described above.

Agricultural areas and range lands contribute to sedimentation through fine-grained, exposed top layers of soil washing into nearby water courses (Owens et al., 2005). Mines, particularly aggregate and gravel mines, disturb the topmost layers of soil allowing for large sediment pulses during mining activities and runoff events (BC MOE, 2015).

Gravel roads and forestry roads are well known contributors to sedimentation during the construction phase (Lachance et al., 2008; Orndorff, 2017). Unpaved roads also act as a sediment source during resurfacing, traffic use, and runoff events (Demir et al., 2012). Sediment inputs decrease as roads age, but increase again when roads are resurfaced (Luce and Black, 2001). Thus, all ages of gravel and forestry roads were used in this analyses.

Forested areas that have been burned by wildfire contribute large quantities of sediment and ash to stream networks as vegetation is removed and the top-most layers of soil become dry and exposed (Ryan et al., 2011). The effects of initial loading decrease after approximately three years, and have been found to return to pre-burn levels after approximately eight years when sufficient regrowth has occurred (USDA, 2014). For this study, we have used a conservative ten-year temporal cut off for areas that have been burned.

Similar to burned areas, areas harvested for forestry have also been found to contribute significant quantities of sediment as vegetation is removed. These effects also decrease after approximately six years (Gomi et al., 2005). For our analyses, we used a ten year temporal cutoff as a slight over estimate in order to ensure sediment sources were fully captured.

#### Nutrients

Increased nutrient levels (particularly nitrogen and phosphorus) typically create issues in freshwater systems by supporting high levels of vegetation and algal growth (Schindler 1974). High levels of algae and vegetation can create hypoxic conditions through decomposition of dead algae and diurnal extremes in macrophyte photosynthesis and respiration (Harper, 1992). Hypoxic conditions are known to cause sublethal and lethal effects on fish, and is a major concern in the streams within the Fraser Valley (Rosenfeld et al., 2021). To determine areas on the landscape that contain disturbances that have high nutrient input, a land cover mosaic was created using (1) agricultural land cover, (2) areas burned within the last ten years, (3) areas that have been harvested within the last ten years, (4) waste water discharge areas, and (5) areas that have been defoliated by pests. This land cover mosaic was used in the flow accumulation model as described above.

Agricultural areas contribute high levels of nutrients to nearby freshwater surface and groundwater sources have high nutrient input through multiple pathways including runoff and erosion of overfertilized soils and (Carpenter, 2005; Schröder et al., 2004). Rangelands supporting livestock and poultry also contribute nutrients to freshwater systems through improper manure management (Sutherland, 2006).

Burned areas contribute nutrients to stream networks through the removal of vegetation, soil disturbance, and surface hardening. Without sufficient vegetated cover to uptake nutrients and less pervious surface soils, they are easily flushed through the ground and into the stream network. High levels of bioavailable nutrients have been found in riverine systems up to seven years after burns have occurred (Emelko et al., 2016; Silins et al., 2014). In order to fully capture areas affected by burns, a conservative ten-year cut off for burned areas was used.

Similar to burned areas, areas harvested for forestry have also been found to contribute significant quantities of nutrients as vegetation is removed and nutrients are easily flushed into freshwater systems (Pike et al., 2010). Significant increases of nutrients in adjacent water bodies have been seen 6-12 years post-harvest (Jewett et al., 1995; Palviainen et al., 2015). Though the type of harvest impacts the amount of nutrient input (Mupepele and Dormann, 2017), in lieu of this data, we included all harvest areas with a ten-year cutoff within the study area.

Municipal waste water discharge areas are well known contributors to nutrients causing eutrophication and associated hypoxia in freshwater systems (Chambers et al., 1997). Impacts are greatest at the discharge source, but influence downstream environments as well (Tetreault et al., 2012). For our analyses, only point source spatial information was available, so waste water discharge areas were represented on the landscape as a single 25 m grid cell. This potentially underestimates the impacts of waste water discharge areas on freshwater habitat.

Forested areas that have been defoliated by pests can cause increased localized nutrient input if the vegetation is damaged beyond its capacity to function normally and uptake nutrients (Connors et al., 2018). Only areas that have been defoliated within the last ten years and had 'severe' and 'very severe' levels of pest infestation were incorporated as these were most likely to have larger impacts on the freshwater environment given how nutrients are flushed into the system from harvested or burned areas.

#### Pollution

Pollution is a broad term, generally used to characterize any substance (including sediment and nutrients) that flows into a water system that can cause damage to fish and fish habitat at high quantities. In this case, we used the term pollution to encompass inputs other than sedimentation and nutrients such as hormones and heavy metals. To determine areas on the landscape that contain disturbances that are pollution sources, a land cover mosaic was created using (1) agricultural land cover, (2) urban land cover, (3) paved roads, (4) mines, and (5) waste water discharge areas. This land cover mosaic was then used in the flow accumulation model described above.

Agricultural areas and areas supporting livestock contribute a variety of pollutants such as herbicides, pesticides, fungicides, and veterinary pharmaceuticals that are flushed into adjacent water courses. These inputs have been shown to cause direct impacts such as fish toxicity, anoxic conditions, and endocrine disruption, as well as indirect impacts through food web disruption and habitat degradation (Berka et al., 2001, Evans et al., 2012). Estrogen mimicking agrochemicals and pesticides have been shown to cause endocrine disruptions, resulting in reproduction and population challenged for fish (Okoumassoun et al., 2002; Evans et al., 2012).

Urban areas and roads are major sources of pollution, primarily through stormwater runoff over impervious surfaces that flush heavy metals and other contaminants into freshwater systems. Following storm events, trace metals are frequently found in streams at levels exceeding water quality criteria for the protection of aquatic life (Hall et al., 1998; Sekela et al., 1998). These pollutants get flushed through the freshwater environment, but many settle in sediment and remain bioavailable to aquatic life (Li et al., 2009).

Mines have the potential to pollute adjacent freshwater environments in a variety of ways including surface runoff from exposed mine sites, leachate from abandoned mines, and tailing spills (Azcue et al., 1995; Byrne et al., 2018). The most common form of pollution from mines is heavy metals (e.g., arsenic) that have been shown to impact freshwater species (Grout and Levings, 2001).

Municipal waste water discharge areas pollute the environment with pharmaceutical compounds (e.g., excess estrogen) that have been shown to cause endocrine disruption and feminization of some fish species (Jeffries et al., 2010; McMaster, 2005). These impacts can cause population dynamic and reproductive challenges for affected fish (Evans et al., 2012).

#### Aquatic Invasive Species

Aquatic invasive species pose a threat to fish and fish habitat by overgrowing or altering habitat, competing for food or habitat resources, or preying on native species. Not all non-native, introduced species are invasive (i.e., spread and have a deleterious impact), though greater numbers of non-native species can shift food webs and ecosystem dynamics (Simberloff and Von Holle, 1999). Native species richness, particularly at-risk species, has been found to decline with greater non-native species richness in freshwater habitats (Dextrase and Mandrak, 2006; Nowosad and Taylor, 2013). We assessed the aquatic invasive species threat, using non-native species richness since individual impacts of these species on the at-risk native species is not currently well known. This threat is calculated more directly, using species data as opposed to disturbances that influence the spread and introduction of non-native species because species data were available in this case.

Publicly available data sources (detailed in Appendix A1) were filtered for aquatic non-native species and included 102 species of plants, fish, amphibians, reptiles, and aquatic birds. The mean non-native species richness was calculated for each stream reach within the Fraser Valley. These values were rescaled as described above to provide an aquatic invasive species score comparable to the other threats for the final cumulative effect summation.

#### Habitat Fragmentation

Habitat fragmentation is a major concern for both migratory species and resident species with limited habitat range (Finn et al., 2021; DFO, 2020c). Barriers that fragment habitat can cause issues with population dynamics and resilience, and genetic variation (Schlosser and Kallemeyn, 2000). Ecological barriers such as beaver damming and water velocity barriers are not temporally consistent and may not be a barrier for all freshwater species. We only considered artificial dams as absolute barriers causing fragmentation on the landscape, and to focus the analysis on anthropogenic-induced fragmentation. Similar to the aquatic invasive species threat, fragmentation was calculated in a more direct manner since data were readily available.

Presence of dams within the stream network was used to calculate potential for habitat fragmentation as the mean number of dams per stream reach. These values were rescaled as described above to provide a habitat fragmentation score comparable to the other threats.

#### Riparian Zone Disturbance

The riparian zone is commonly defined as the area 30 m from the water's edge (DFO, 2020d; *Riparian Areas Protection Regulation, 2019*, (BC Reg 178/2019) s. 8). The riparian zone is crucial to freshwater habitat health by providing key ecosystem services such as runoff filtration, shading that decreases stream temperatures, and bank stabilization (DFO, 2020d; Pusey and

Arthington, 2003). Disturbance to the vegetation in the riparian zone will negatively impact its ability to provide these critical ecosystem services to the freshwater environment.

To calculate the level of disturbance in the riparian zone, a 30 m buffer was created around streams, large rivers, and lakes within the Fraser Valley. The binary disturbance layer was developed using a mosaic of relevant disturbance raster layers including (1) urban area, (2) agricultural land, (3) mines, (4) all roads, (5) areas defoliated by pests, (6) burned areas from the last ten years, (7) forest areas harvested in the last ten years, and (8) rail lines. The same ten-year temporal limits used in the nutrient, pollution, and sedimentation threats were placed on the defoliated areas, burned areas, and harvested areas, as these types of landscape disturbances regrow over time. Any grid cells within the riparian zone containing these disturbances were considered to be disturbed. Riparian zone disturbance was reported as a proportion of the riparian zone area per stream reach, where a value of 1 would represent a riparian zone that is completely disturbed. The stream network used in this analysis runs down the center of the Fraser River mainstem and lakes. In these instances, the riparian zone data from the lakes and mainstem were linked to the nearest reach in the linear stream network.

#### Physical Destruction of Aquatic Habitat

Any anthropogenic activity that may have physically altered the aquatic landscape and habitat features within a water course was considered to create physical destruction of aquatic habitat. Though some natural events may cause habitat destruction, we focused on human activities for the cumulative effect assessment. Physical destruction of freshwater habitat is of concern because it can significantly alter fish and prey communities (Rempel and Church 2009). To calculate areas where physical destruction of aquatic habitat has taken place, a binary activity layer was developed using a mosaic of raster layers including (1) mines within 30 m of a water body, (2) dams, and (3) stream crossings.

Mines within 30 m of water courses can impact the stream by having infrastructure within the water body or by harvesting aggregate and gravel from the river itself. Significant sediment and gravel mining is known to take place in the Fraser Valley (McLean et al., 2006). Spatial data available did not have mine type information, so all mine footprints were used in this analysis. Areas where roads intersected water courses were also considered to have some form of associated aquatic habitat destruction. Road crossings were represented as a single grid cell on the landscape where the roads crossed the streams. Further refinement of spatial data on culverts and stream crossings would be beneficial for future calculations of this threat. Dams were also included, as detailed for the habitat fragmentation threat.

The final activity mosaic was overlaid with a rasterized freshwater network within the study area that included streams, lakes, and large river areas to assess the area of aquatic habitat that is impacted. Physical destruction of aquatic habitat was reported as a proportion of freshwater habitat area that was disturbed. These values were linked to corresponding stream reaches within the stream network. A value of 1 would represent a stream reach where 100% of the freshwater area is disturbed.

#### Threat and Cumulative Effect Scoring

Cumulative effect scores were calculated as the sum of all threats (individually scaled between 0 and 1) per stream reach (including segments running through the Fraser River mainstem and lakes). Threat and cumulative effect scores were summarized in the following ways: (1) mean individual threat score per stream reach (2) mean cumulative effect scores (summed threat scores) per stream reach (3) mean individual threat scores averaged across stream reaches identified as species habitat for each of the eight species (4) mean cumulative effect scores averaged across stream reaches identified as species habitat for each of the eight species (5) mean individual threat scores averaged across stream reaches identified as distinct habitat patches for relevant species, and (6) mean cumulative effect scores averaged across stream reaches identified as distinct habitat patches for relevant species. Threat and cumulative effect scores were also compared to the mean value for the Fraser Valley to provide an estimation of how impacted habitats are relative to the rest of the region. Maps were made representing cumulative effect scores by stream reach across the Fraser Valley and for each species' habitat extent to identify the areas that were estimated to be the most highly impacted.

All summary statics and graphing was conducted using R Statistical Software version 4.0 (R Core Team, Vienna, Austria).

#### RESULTS

Across the Fraser Valley, there is a general latitudinal trend with higher cumulative effect scores in the south and lower scores in the north (Figure 4). This trend corresponds with high levels of urban and agricultural land cover in the southern portions of the valley (Figure 5). Urban and agricultural land cover are incorporated into multiple threats including riparian disturbance, pollution and nutrients.



**Figure 4.** Cumulative effect scores for the Fraser Valley, BC stream network. Low cumulative effect stream reaches are in blue, and high cumulative effect stream reaches are in red.



Figure 5. Agricultural (brown) and urban (dark grey) land cover within the Fraser Valley, BC.

The majority of threat scores for at-risk fish species habitat were much higher compared to threats averaged across the Fraser Valley stream network (Figure 6). Riparian zone disturbance and pollution were highest across the region and especially within at-risk species habitat compared to other threats, followed by sediment, nutrients, and non-native species richness. Riparian zone disturbance was highest within Salish Sucker habitat, and lowest within Sockeye Salmon habitat. Pollution was most prominent in Nooksack Dace habitat and lowest within Chinook Salmon habitat. Nooksack Dace and Salish Sucker habitat had the highest cumulative effect scores of all species, whereas Chinook Salmon and Sockeye Salmon had the lowest scores (Figure 7).



**Figure 6.** Scaled mean threat scores (0-1) for the stream network across the Fraser Valley (dark grey) and within important habitat of eight at-risk fish species (light grey). Bars are mean  $\pm 1$  SE.



**Figure 7.** Stacked mean threat scores for at-risk species habitats. The top of the bar represents the mean cumulative effect score.

Chinook, Mountain Sucker, and Coastrange Sculpin had single habitat patches (Figures 8-10), whereas the other five species had discontinuous patches for which the importance of different threats varied (Figures 11-15). The major threat for species with discontinuous patches was generally consistent across patches, but contributions of relatively less significant threats were variable and resulted in different cumulative effect scores (Figures 11-15). For example, Nooksack Dace and Salish Sucker habitat patches were most affected by pollution (14 and 15), with habitat patches four and ten showing the highest cumulative effects, respectively. Threat and cumulative effect scores for all species and habitat patches are provided in Appendix Tables A2-A9.



**Figure 8.** Chinook Salmon habitat (white outline) mean cumulative effect scores. The inset shows the location of the habitat patch within the Fraser Valley.



**Figure 9.** Mountain Sucker habitat (white outline) mean cumulative effect scores. The inset shows the location of the habitat patch within the Fraser Valley.



**Figure 10.** Coastrange Sculpin habitat (white outline) mean cumulative effect scores. The inset shows the location of the habitat patch within the Fraser Valley.





**Figure 11.** (A-C) Sockeye Salmon discontinuous habitat patches (white outline) mean cumulative effect scores. The inset shows the location of the habitat patch within the Fraser Valley. (D) Stacked mean threat scores for Sockeye Salmon habitat patches. Habitat patches 1-3 mean values are across stream reaches within each patch, and 'all' mean values are across all stream reaches within the species' habitat. The top of the bar represents the mean cumulative effect score.



**Figure 12.** (A) Green Sturgeon discontinuous habitat patches (white outline) mean cumulative effect scores. The inset shows the location of habitat patch within the Fraser Valley. (B) Stacked mean threat scores for Green Sturgeon habitat patches. Habitat patches 1-6 mean values are across stream reaches within each patch, and 'all' mean values are across all stream reaches. The top of the bar represents the mean cumulative effect score.





**Figure 13.** (A-B) White Sturgeon discontinuous habitat patches (white outline) mean cumulative effect scores. The inset shows the location of the habitat patch within the Fraser Valley. (C) Stacked mean threat scores for White Sturgeon habitat patches. Habitat patches 1-6 mean values are across stream reaches within each patch, and 'all' mean values are across all stream reaches within the species' habitat. The top of the bar represents the mean cumulative effect score.




**Figure 14.** (A-B) Nooksack Dace discontinuous habitat patches (white outline) mean cumulative effect scores. The inset shows the location of habitat patch within the Fraser Valley. (C) Stacked mean threat scores for Nooksack Dace habitat patches. Habitat patches 1-6 mean values are across stream reaches within each patch, and 'all' mean values are across all stream reaches within the species' habitat. The top of the bar represents the mean cumulative effect score.





**Figure 15.** (A-B) Salish Sucker discontinuous habitat patches (white outline) mean cumulative effect scores. The inset shows the location of habitat patch within the Fraser Valley. (C) Stacked mean threat scores for Salish Sucker habitat patches. Habitat patches 1-15 mean values are across stream reaches within each patch, and 'all' mean values are across all stream reaches within the species' habitat. The top of the bar represents the mean cumulative effect score.

## DISCUSSION

Our estimated threat and cumulative effect scores showed that landscape disturbance poses significant threat to at-risk fish their habitat, particularly relative to the extent of the Fraser Valley, BC. Stream reaches that were estimated to have the highest threat levels were primarily located within the valley floor and flood plain where there is extensive urbanization and agriculture. The majority habitat for the eight at-risk species habitat was also located within this area, with few of the species except salmon who utilize the less impacted northern, mountainous streams. The finding that cumulative effects were higher within at-risk species habitat than on average across the Fraser Valley was also indicative of why these populations are declining. Pollution and riparian zone disturbance were highlighted as key threats for at-risk species habitat and point to a potential focus for management actions. In addition, maps of cumulative effect scores along the stream network for each species' habitat provide an indication of where restoration resources may be most beneficial.

Salish Sucker and Nooksack Dace had the highest cumulative effect scores within their critical habitat compared to the other six at-risk species, corresponding with their classifications of

Threatened and Endangered (the two highest Species at Risk classes), respectively. The majority of smaller streams where these fish are located are adjacent to dense urban populations and agricultural land. Urban and agricultural land use are primary drivers of multiple threats including sedimentation, nutrients, pollution, and riparian zone disturbance. Stream reaches located within these two land uses are disproportionately at risk of cumulative effects than those located near other land uses such as mines and forestry sites which contributed to fewer threats. Another feature of Salish Sucker and Nooksack Dace habitat patches that exacerbates threats is that they are primarily located in smaller headwater streams, with few upstream connections and smaller catchments. Headwater streams with smaller catchment sizes have little opportunity for dilution of pollutants, nutrients, and sediment. When landscape disturbances are present near headwater streams, these streams receive the initial, highest levels of the threat inputs before they begin to dilute downstream. These two species have relatively small home ranges and are unlikely to expand from their current habitat into other reaches that are less affected by adjacent landscape disturbances (Pearson, 2015). This reinforces the importance of identifying high priority threats, associated landscape disturbances, and locations of high estimated impacts on their habitat to guide restoration and mitigation activities.

Pollution is a major contributing threat across all species and habitats. It was particularly highest in Nooksack Dace, Salish Sucker, and Green Sturgeon habitats. Most landscape disturbances have the potential to contribute pollution to freshwater habitat, particularly agricultural and urban land cover. This threat encompasses a wide variety of pollutants that have different bioavailability and impacts to freshwater species and ecosystems (i.e., heavy metals vs. hormones). Reducing the amount of pollutants going into freshwater habitats can be facilitated by continuing to improve best practices to create large vegetated buffers between pollution sources and freshwater, limiting pollutant concentrations (i.e., fertilizer and pesticide usage), and continuing to improve filtration of water before it returns to water courses (i.e., improving stormwater pathways).

Riparian zone disturbance was another primary contributing threat across all species and habitats. Healthy riparian zones enhance habitats by providing food sources of terrestrial insects and lowering stream temperature, which in turn can help combat effects of eutrophication and hypoxic conditions (Pusey and Arthington, 2003). In addition to these benefits, a healthy, functional riparian zone will help mitigate effects of threats where substances are flushed into the river system such as sedimentation, pollution, and nutrient input. The importance of maintaining a healthy riparian zone is well understood, and many programs for riparian zone preservation and restoration within the Fraser Valley exist (BC MOA, 2011; Lievesley et al., 2017). Our results corroborate the ongoing emphasis on riparian restoration efforts and highlight areas where restoration may be most needed.

## Recommendations for Future Cumulative Effect Assessments

We identified research gaps and avenues for improving future evaluations through the process of developing our threat estimations and the cumulative effect assessment. We presented the results of our assessment above as a strong initial step towards a comprehensive cumulative effect

assessment methodology for fish and fish habitat as we continue to develop and refine threat estimations for stream networks in British Columbia.

We offer the following suggestions to improve future threat evaluation:

- 1. Our aquatic invasive species risk scoring methods include some sample bias by using point locations of non-native species associated to stream reaches. These species are likely much more pervasive throughout the landscape than the location where they were sampled. The biology of each non-native species should also be considered in the future. For instance, some may be restricted to lakes or rivers and are more likely to impact particular native species and not others, but we did not make these delineations. Some studies have examined impacts of aquatic invasive species at a regional level (Nowosad and Taylor, 2013; Scott et al., 2016), though specific impacts on at-risk species and their habitat are not currently well known.
- 2. Habitat fragmentation threat mapping was limited by available barrier spatial data. There are considerably more human-made stream barriers (e.g., impassable culverts, weirs, floodgates) on the landscape that are not accurately represented in currently available spatial inventories. Improving spatial data on barriers to fish passage is ongoing work conducted by the BC province and Canadian Wildlife Federation (S. Norris, pers comm.). Calculation of habitat fragmentation may also be improved by considering area or distance of unfragmented habitat on the landscape (i.e., measuring area of intact habitat units instead of the number of barriers per area).
- 3. Riparian zone disturbance could be measured using a functional quality based metric instead of a distance value (i.e., biodiversity and health of vegetation species present, or presence of bank stabilizing plants). Studies are also re-evaluating the 30 m benchmark distance for defining the riparian zone (Caskenette et al., 2020). In addition, riparian zone presence and function is linked to most other freshwater threats through bank stabilization and filtration capacities. The presence of a healthy, functioning riparian zone along stream reaches could be incorporated into metrics for decreasing the effects of threats such as sedimentation and pollution at those specific sites.
- 4. The physical destruction of aquatic habitat threat can be improved with spatial and temporal information on gravel mining activity. Gravel mining is a common occurrence within the Fraser Valley, however data for this activity were not readily available.
- 5. More complex models for estimating sedimentation have been developed in the Pacific Northwest; however, these rely on extensive *in situ* data for model fitting and validation (Beechie et al., 2021). Without these data, improved approximation of sedimentation risk could include bank slope, distance to water courses, and substrate type variables. Sediment loading has also been shown to be strongly correlated with precipitation and storm pulse events (Demir et al., 2012), which could be incorporated into spatial analyses.
- 6. As with sediment, the behaviour of nutrients in freshwater systems is very complex. The amount of nutrients flushed into a waterway can be impacted by harvest method, precipitation events, and the vegetation present along stream banks (Pike et al., 2010). During this mapping exercise, waste water discharge areas were mapped as point locations near urban and mine site areas. However, the freshwater system impacts of waste water

discharge is likely much larger than the point location on the landscape. In particular, Environment and Climate Change Canada have developed a spatial mapping tool for the Fraser River basin (Pollutants Affecting Whales and their Prey Inventory Tool [PAWPIT], https://pawpit-oipabp.ca/) that comprehensively estimates point source contaminant releases (i.e., pollutants and nutrients), as well as runoff contributions from different land use categories. This will be incorporated in future cumulative effect assessments for the region.

- 7. Pollution is also a complex threat to estimate as there are many types of different pollutants that behave differently and have different levels of bioavailability in freshwater systems. For instance, hormone pollutants from urban waste water have very different impacts on fish species than heavy metal pollutants from roadways. This threat could be improved by evaluating pollutant types separately and linking them to their associated landscape disturbances, as well as by accounting for flushing based on precipitation and land permeability (Hall et al., 1998). Contaminant release and land use contribution estimates from the PAWPIT tool will be applied in future iterations.
- 8. Adding the key water state threats including low stream flow, high water temperature, and hypoxic conditions to this analysis will make the cumulative effect scoring more comprehensive. This work is underway by DFO and collaborative partners (D. Weller, J.C. Iacarella, unpublished data).

Other cumulative effect assessment considerations include the nonlinear and interactive effects of threats. Species and habitat responses to threats are often nonlinear, usually in the form of unimodal or threshold responses. Fish species compositions across watersheds in the Fraser River basin were found to respond nonlinearly to many of the landscape disturbances included in this analysis (Iacarella 2022). For instance, greater changes in fish species compositions occurred at lower levels of riparian disturbance than at higher levels. Modeled nonlinear relationships between threat levels and biological responses can be used to create cumulative effect scores (Iacarella 2022; DFO, 2019). In addition, many cumulative effect assessments treat threats additively owing to limited knowledge of when and how threats interact (Halpern and Fujita, 2013).

The relative importance of different threats to the focal ecological component is also an important consideration in cumulative effect assessments and is often addressed by creating vulnerability weights. These weights are commonly identified through expert elicitation or literature review, or may be modeled if threat response data are available (Iacarella 2022; DFO, 2019). Though the threats included in this analysis were identified as important to at-risk fish species through expert elicitation by COSEWIC, further evaluation of the relative importance of the threats to each species is needed for future assessments. We conducted a preliminary literature review to determine the feasibility of assigning vulnerability weightings using current knowledge for two high priority at-risk species in the region, Nooksack Dace and Salish Sucker. A total of 105 peer-reviewed publications and government reports that discussed one or more of the listed threats for these species were compiled through web-based searches of key words. Of these, only fourteen directly addressed responses of either species to the relevant threats. Threat responses that have been evaluated were seasonal lack of flow, hypoxia, and sedimentation. It could not be concluded from this literature review if any of the threat responses were more

detrimental than the others. The majority of other resources available investigated the threats within the Fraser Valley, but did not explicitly address impacts to the two species reviewed. There was also some literature evaluating threat responses of closely related species (Longnose Dace (*Rhinichthys cataractae*) and Longnose Sucker (*Catostomus Catostomus*)) occurring outside of the Fraser Valley. These results identified a key research gap and support the need for more studies investigating species-threat responses. Quantification of the relative importance and type of response (non-linearity) to different threats by at-risk species would improve the accuracy of cumulative effect assessments.

## Conclusions for Management

The resulting maps and summary statistics from this cumulative effect assessment can be used by resource managers to identify priority habitat for restoration and protection, and threats that warrant monitoring and mitigation actions. In particular, the threat and cumulative effect maps presented here highlight areas on the landscape that are experiencing considerable effects of anthropogenic pressures. When reviewing proposed works that may impact these areas, managers will be able to see the relative levels of disturbance that already exists for the stream network and determine if adding to that level is suitable. Our results also indicate which species have habitat that is most at risk in the Fraser Valley, which habitat patches are particularly stressed, and which reaches within these habitats have higher threat and cumulative effect scores. This enables prioritization of management efforts at multiple scales. For instance, a manager can use these maps to identify the stream reach of Salish Sucker habitat that is currently the most at risk by adjacent land use and prioritize this area for riparian zone restoration. Further, managers can identify the major threat in that habitat, such as pollution or riparian disturbance, and choose restoration methods to mitigate those particular threats. Since threat and cumulative effect scores were calculated for all stream reaches within the Fraser Valley, any area or habitat of interest can be investigated further. The approach developed here can also be readily applied to a greater extent of BC and to other freshwater species' habitats.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to acknowledge Dr. Daniel Weller (DFO) for developing the linear hydrologic network layer used in these analyses. White Sturgeon spawning habitat data and mine footprint data were provided by the Province of British Columbia. Valuable feedback was provided by DFO's Species At Risk and Fish and Fish Habitat Protection programs. The Nooksack Dace and Salish Sucker literature was completed with contributions from CoastRange Environmental Ltd. This project was funded in part by DFO's Nature Legacy Program.

#### REFERENCES

- Azcue, J.M., Mudroch, A., Rosa, F., Hall, G.E.M., Jackson, T.A., and Reynoldson, T. 1995. Trace elements in water, sediments, porewater and biota polluted by tailings from an abandoned gold mine in British Columbia, Canada. Journal of Geochemical Exploration, 52(1995):25-34. doi: 10.1016/0375-6742(94)00028-A
- BC Laws. Riparian Areas Protection Regulation, BC Reg 178/2019, <https://canlii.ca/t/5539l> retrieved on 2022-04-04
- BC Ministry of Agriculture (MOA). 2011. Agricultural Building Setbacks From Watercourses in Farming Areas. ttps://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/farming-natural-resources-andindustry/agriculture-and-seafood/agricultural-land-and-environment/strengtheningfarming/local-government-bylaw-standards/riparian-setbacks/823400-1\_agricultural\_building\_setbacks.pdf
- BC Ministry of Environment (MOE). 2015. Developing a Mining Erosion and Sediment Control Plan. Technical Guidance 3. Environmental Management Act. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/environment/waste-management/industrialwaste/industrial-waste/mining-smelt-energy/erosion\_sediment\_control\_plan\_guide.pdf
- BC Ministry of Environment (MOE). 2017. Freshwater Atlas Province of British Columbia. Retrieved from: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/data/geographic-dataservices/topographic-data/freshwater
- Beechie, T.J., Nichol, C., Fogel, C., Jorgensen, J., ... Keaton, J. 2021. Modeling Effects of Habitat Change and Restoration Alternatives on Salmon in the Chehalis River Basin Using a Salmonid Life-Cycle Model. U.S. Department of Commerce, NOAA Contract Report NMFS-NWFSC-CR-2021-01. doi: 10.25923/v003-kk27
- Berka, C., Schreier, H., and Hall, K. 2001. Linking water quality with agricultural intensification in a rural watershed. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 127:389-401. doi: 10.1023/A:1005233005364
- Boyle, C.A., Lavkulich, L., Schreier, H., and Kiss, E. 1997. Changes in Land Cover and Subsequent Effects on Lower Fraser Basin Ecosystems from 1827 to 1990. Environmental Management, 21(2):185-196. doi: 10.1007/s002679900017
- Byrne, P., Hudson-Edwards, K.A., Bird, G., Macklin, M.G., ... Jamieson, H.E. 2018. Water quality impacts and river system recovery following the 2014 Mount Polley mine tailings dam spill, British Columbia, Canada. Applied Geochemistry, 91(2018):64-74. doi: 10.1016/j.apgeochem.2018.01.012
- Carpenter, S.R. 2005. Eutrophication of aquatic ecosystems: Bistability and soil phosphorus. PNAS 102(29):10002-10005. doi: 10.1073pnas.0503959102

- Caskenette, A.L., Durhack, T.C., and Enders, E.C. 2020. Review of information to guide the identification of Critical Habitat in the riparian zone for freshwater fishes and mussels. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2020/049.
- Chambers, P.A., Allard, M., Walker, S.L., Marsalek. J. ... Wong, M.P. 1997. Impacts of municipal wastewater effluents on Canadian waters: a Review. Water. Qual. Res. J. Canada. 32:659-713. doi: 10.2166/wqrj.1997.038
- Champion, M.J., Rosenfeld, J.S., and Shadwick, R. 2018. Effects of water velocity and substrate composition on foraging efficiency of an endangered benthic cyprinid, Nooksack dace (*Rhinichthys cataractae* subsp. *cataractae*). Hydrobiologia, 805: 231-243. doi: 10.1007/s10750-017-3304-2
- Connors, K., Jones, E., Kellock, K., Hertz, E., Honka, L., and Belzile, J. 2018. BC Central Coast: A snapshot of salmon populations and their habitats. The Pacific Salmon Foundation, Vancouver, BC, Canada.
- COSEWIC. 2010. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the Mountain Sucker *Catostomus platyrhynchus* (Saskatchewan Nelson River populations, Milk River populations and Pacific populations) in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa xvii +54 pp. (www.sararegistry.gc.ca/status/status\_e.cfm).
- COSEWIC. 2012. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the White Sturgeon *Acipenser transmontanus* in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. xxvii+ 75 pp. (www.registrelep-sararegistry.gc.ca/default\_e.cfm).
- COSEWIC. 2013. COSEWIC status appraisal summary on the Green Sturgeon *Acipenser medirostris* in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. xvi pp. (www.registrelep-sararegistry.gc.ca/default\_e.cfm).
- COSEWIC. 2017. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the Sockeye Salmon *Onchorhynchus nerka*, 24 Designatable Units in the Fraser River Drainage Basin, in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. xli+179 pp. (http://www.registrelep-sararegistry.gc.ca/default.asp?lang=eng&n=24F7211B-1).
- COSEWIC. 2018. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the Chinook Salmon *Onchorhynchus tshawytscha*, Designatable Units in Southern British Columbia (Part One – Designatable Units with no or low levels of artificial releases in the last 12 years), in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. xxxi+ 283 pp. (http://www.registrelep-sararegistry.gc.ca/default.asp?lang=en&n=24F7211B-1).
- COSEWIC. 2019. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the Coastrange Sculpin *Cottus aleuticus*, Cultus Lake population, in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. xii+ 41 pp. (https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climatechange/services/species-risk-public-registry.html).
- Davidson, A., Tepper, H., Bisset, J., Anderson, K., ... Ayele, T. 2018. Aquatic Ecosystems Cumulative Effects Assessment Report: Elk Valley, Kootenay Boundary Region.

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/environment/natural-resourcestewardship/cumulative-effects/draft\_elk\_valley\_ceam\_12122018\_draft.pdf

- Demir, M., Makineci, E., and Kartaloglu, M. 2012. Temporal sediment production of paved and unpaved forest roads. Fresenius Environmental Bulletin 21(5):1180-1185
- Dextrase, A.J., and Mandrak, N.E. 2006. Impacts of alien invasive species on freshwater fauna at risk in Canada. Biological Invasions, 8:13-24. doi: 10.1007/s10530-005-0232-2
- DFO. 1997. Wild, Threatened, Endangered and Lost Streams of the Lower Fraser Valley. Summary Report: Lower Fraser Valley Stream Review Vol. 3. (https://www.cmnbc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/WTE-Summary.pdf)
- DFO. 2019. Review of Alberta Environment and Parks Cumulative Effects Assessment Joe Model. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Sci. Advis. Rep. 2019/045.
- DFO. 2020a. Fraser Watershed Priority Area. https://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/species-especes/sara-lep/cnfasar-fnceap/priority-priorite/profiles/fraser-eng.html
- DFO. 2020b. Recovery Strategy for the Nooksack Dace (*Rhinichthys cataractae* ssp.) in Canada. 1st amendment. Species at Risk Act Recovery Strategy Series. Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Ottawa. vii+ 47 pp.
- DFO. 2020c. Recovery Strategy for the Salish Sucker (*Catostomus* sp. cf. *catostomus*) in Canada. 1st amendment. Species at Risk Act Recovery Strategy Series. Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Ottawa. vii+ 71 pp.
- DFO. 2020d. Guidance on the identification of critical habitat in the riparian zone for freshwater species at risk. Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat Science Advisory Report 2020/40. Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Ottawa. 26pp.
- Emelko, M., Stone, M., Silins, U., Allin, D. ... Bladon, K.D. 2016. Sediment-phosphorus dynamics can shift aquatic ecology and cause downstream legacy effects after wildfire in large river systems. Global Change Biology, 22:1168-1184. doi: 10.1111/gcb.13073
- Evans, J.S., Jackson, L.J., Habibi, H.R., and Ikonomou, M.G. 2012. Feminization of Longnose Dace (*Rhinichthys cataractae*) in the Oldman River, Alberta, (Canada) Provides
   Evidence of Widespread Endocrine Disruption in an Agricultural Basin. Scientifica, 2012:1-11. doi: 10.6064/2012/521931
- Finn, R.J.R, Chalifour, L., Gergel, S.E., Hinch, S.G., Scott, D.C., and Martin, T.G. 2021. Quantifying lost and inaccessible habitat for Pacific salmon in Canada's Lower Fraser River. Ecosphere, 12(7):1-20. doi: 10.1002/ecs2.3646
- Gasser, P.Y., Smith, C.A.S., Brierley, J.A., Schut, P.H., Neilsen, D., and Kenney, E.A. 2016. The use of the land suitability rating system to assess climate change impacts on corn production in the lower Fraser Valley of British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 96(2). doi: 10.1139/cjss-2015-0108

- Gomi, T.R., Moore, D.R., and Hassan, M.A. 2005. Suspended sediment dynamics in small forest streams of the Pacific Northwest. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 41(4):877-898. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-1688.2005.tb03775
- Grout, J.A., and Levings, C.D. 2001. Effects of acid mine drainage from an abandoned copper mine, Britannia Mines, Howe Sound, British Columbia, Canada, on transplanted blue mussels (*Mytilus edulis*). Marine Environmental Research, 51:265-288. doi: 10.1016/S0141-1136(00)00104-5
- Hague, M.J., Ferrari, M.R., Miller, J.R., Patterson, D.A., Russell, G.L., Farrell, A.P., and Hinch, S.G. 2011. Modelling the future of hydroclimatology of the lower Fraser River and its impacts on the spawning migration survival of sockeye salmon. Global Change Biology, 17:87-98. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02225.x
- Hall, K.J., and Schreier, H. 1996. Urbanization and agricultural intensification in the Lower Fraser River valley: Impacts on water use and quality. GeoJournal, 40:135-146. doi: 10.1007/BF00222539
- Hall, K.J., Larkin, G.A., Macdonald, R.H., and Schreier, H. 1998. Water Pollution from Urban Stormwater Runoff in the Brunette River Watershed, B.C. Fraser River Action Plan 1998-23 pp. 21.
- Halpern, B.S., and Fujita, R. 2013. Assumptions, challenges, and future directions in cumulative impact analysis. Ecosphere 4(10):131. doi: 10.1890/ES13-00181.1
- Harper, D. 1992. Eutrophication of freshwaters: principles, problems, and restoration. Chapman and Hall, London, UK. doi: 10.2307/2261685
- Healey, M. 2011. The cumulative impacts of climate change on Fraser River sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) and implications for management. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 68: 718-737. doi: 10.1139/F2011-010
- Iacarella, J.C. 2022. Fish zeta diversity responses to human pressures and cumulative effects across a freshwater basin. Diversity and Distributions, 00:1-14. doi: 10.1111/ddi.13486
- Jeffries, K.M., Jackson, L.J., Ikonomou, M.G., and Habibi, H.R. 2010. Presence of natural and anthropogenic organic contaminants and potential fish health impacts along two river gradients in Alberta, Canada. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 29(10):2379-2387. doi: 10.1002/etc.265
- Jewett, K., Daugharty, D., Krause, H.H., and Arp, P.A. 1995. Watershed responses to clearcutting: Effects on soil solutions and stream water discharge in central New Brunswick. Can. J. Soil. Sci. 75:475-490
- Lachance, S., Dubé, M., Dostie, R., and Bérubé, P. 2008. Temporal and Spatial Quantification of Fine-Sediment Accumulation Downstream of Culverts in Brook Trout Habitat.
   Transactions of the American Fisheries Society, 137:1826-1838. doi: 10.1577/T06-169.1

- Li, L.Y., Hall, K., Yuan, Y., Mattu, G., McCallum, D., and Chen, M. 2009. Mobility and Bioavailability of Trace Metals in the Water-Sediment System of the Highly Urbanized Brunette Watershed. Water. Air. Soil. Pollut. 197:249-266. doi: 10.1007/s11270-008-9808-7
- Lievesley, M., Stewart, D., Knight, R., and Mason, B. 2017. Marsh and Riparian Habitat Compensation in the Fraser River Estuary: A Guide for Managers and Practitioners. 42 pp. vii
- Linke, S., Lehner, B., Ouellet Dallaire, C., Ariwi, J. ... Thieme, M. 2019. Global hydroenvironmental sub-basin and river reach characteristics at high spatial resolution. Nature, 6:283. doi: 10.1038/s41597-019-0300-6
- Luce, C.H., and Black, T.A. 2001. Spatial and Temporal Patterns in Erosion from Forest Roads. Water Resources Monographs, American Geophysical Union, Washington, D.C. pp. 165-178
- MacDonald, J.R. 2005. Impacts of urban hillslope development and agriculture on hydrology and water quality in the Chilliwack Creek watershed, British Columbia. University of British Columbia. doi: 10.14288/1.0091819
- McLean, D., Mannerström, M., and Lyle, T. 2006. Impacts of human interventions on the Lower Fraser River. Northwest Hydraulic Consultants Ltd, Vancouver. 11 pp.
- McMaster, M.E., Hewitt, M.L., Tetreault, G.R., Janoscik, T., ... Denslow, N.D. 2005. Detailed Endocrine Assessments of Wild Fish in Northern River Basins, Alberta, in Comparison to EEM Monitored Endpoints. Water. Qual. Res. J. Canada. 40(3):299-314. doi: 10.2166/wqrj.2005.035
- Mupepele, A., and Dormann, C.F. 2017. Influence of Forest Harvest on Nitrate Concentration in Temperate Streams – A Meta-Analysis. Forests, 8(5):1-14. doi: 10.3390/f8010005
- Murray, C.C., Mach, M.E., Martone, R.G., Singh, G.G., O, M., and Chan, K.M.A. 2016. Supporting Risk Assessment Accounting for Indirect Risk to Ecosystem Components. PLoS ONE 11(9): 1-15. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0162932
- Murray, C., Hannah, L., and Locke, A. 2020. A Review of Cumulative Effects Research and Assessment in Fisheries and Oceans Canada. Can Tech. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 3357: vii + 51p.
- Nowosad, D.M., and Taylor, E.B. 2013. Habitat variation and invasive species as factors influencing the distribution of native fishes in the lower Fraser River Valley, British Columbia, with an emphasis on brassy minnow (*Hybognathus hankinsoni*). Can. J. Zool. 91:71-81. doi: 10.1139/cjz-2012-0177
- Okoumassoun, L.E., Averill-Bates, D., Gagne, F., Marion, M., and Denizeau, F. 2002. Assessing the estrogenic potential of organochlorine pesticides in primary cultures of male rainbow

trout (*Onchorynchus mykiss*) hepatocytes using vitellogenin as a biomarker. Toxicology. 178(3):193-207. doi: 10.1016/S0300-483X(02)00228-7

- Orndorff, A. 2017. Evaluating the Effects of Sedimentation from Forest Roads: A Review. University of Florida, Soal and Water Science Department.
- Owens, P.N., Batalla, R.J., Collins, A.J., Gomez, B. ... Trustrum, N.A. 2005. Fine-grained sediment in river systems: environmental significance and management issues. River Res. Applic. 21:693-717. doi: 10.1002/rra.878
- Palviainen, M., Finér, L., Laurén, A., Mattsson, T., and Högbom, L. 2015. A method to estimate the impact of clear-cutting on nutrient concentrations in boreal headwater streams. Ambio. 44:521-531. doi: 10.1007/s13280-015-0635-y
- Pearson, M. 2015. Recovery Potential Assessment for the Salish Sucker In Canada. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2015/077. viii +42 p.
- Pike, R.G., Feller, M.C., Stednick, J.D., Rieberger, K.J., and Carver, M. 2010. Chapter 12: Water Quality and Forest Management. Compendium of Forest Hydrology and Geomorphology in British Columbia. pp. 401-440.
- Pusey, B.J. and Arthington, A.H. 2003. Importance of the riparian zone to the conservation and management of freshwater fish: a review. Marine and Freshwater Research, 54:1-16. doi: 10.1071/MF02041
- Rempel, L.L. and Church, M. 2009. Physical and ecological response to disturbance by gravel mining in a large alluvial river. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 66:52-71. doi: 10.1139/F08-184
- Reuten, C., Ainslie, B., Steyn, D.G., Jackson, P.L., and McKendry, I. 2012. Impact of Climate Change on Ozone Pollution in the Lower Fraser Valley, Canada. Atmosphere-Ocean 50(1). doi: 10.1080/07055900.2011.643444
- Rosenfeld, J., Pearson, M.P., Miners, J., and Zinn, K. 2021. Effects of landscape-scale hypoxia on Salish sucker and salmonid habitat associations: implications for endangered species recovery and management. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 78:1219-1233. doi: 10.1139/cjfas-2020-0171
- Ryan, S.E., Dwire, K.A., and Dixon, M.K. 2011. Impacts of wildfire runoff and sediment loads at Little Granite Creek, western Wyoming. Geomorphology, 129:113-130. doi: 10.1016/j.geomorph.2011.01.017
- Schindler, D.W. 1974. Eutrophication and recovery in experimental lakes: Implications for lake management. Science, 184:897-899. doi: 10.1123/science.184.4139.897
- Schlosser, I.J. and Kallemeyn, L.W. 2000. Spatial Variation in Fish Assemblages across a Beaver-Influenced Successional Landscape. Ecology, 81(5):1371-1382. doi: 10.2307/177214

- Schröder, J.J., Scholefield, D., Cabral, F., and Hofman, G. 2004. The effects of nutrient losses from agriculture on ground and surface water quality: the position of science in developing indicators for regulation. Environmental Science and Policy, 7:15-23. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2003.10.006
- Scott, D.C., Arbeider, M., Gordon, J., and Moore, J.W. 2016. Flood control structures in tidal creeks associated with reduction in nursery potential for native fishes and creation of hotspots for invasive species. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 73: 1138-1148. doi: 10.1139/cjfas-2015-0311
- Scrivener, J.C. and Brownlee, M.J. 1989 Effects of forest harvesting on spawning gravel and incubation survival of chum (*Oncorhynchus keta*) and coho (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) in Carnation Creek, British Columbia. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 46: 681-696
- Seitz, N.E., Westbrook, C.J., and Noble, B.F. 2011. Bringing science into river systems cumulative effects assessment practice. Environmental Impact Assessment Review, 31(3):172-179. doi: 10.1016/j.eiar.2010.08.001
- Sekela, M., Brewer, R., Tuominen, T., Sylvestre, S., and Moyle, G. 1998. Effect of a Rainfall Event on Contaminant Levels in the Brunette River Watershed (Data Report). Fraser River Action Plan 1997-36. pp. 42.
- Shaw, E.A. and Richardson, J.S. 2001. Direct and indirect effects of sediment pulse duration on stream invertebrate assemblages and rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) growth and survival. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 58: 2213-2221. doi: 10.1139/cjfas-58-11-2213
- Shrestha, R.R., Schnorbus, M.A., Werner, A.T., and Berland, A.J. 2012. Modelling spatial and temporal variability of hydrologic impacts of climate change in the Fraser River basin, British Columbia, Canada. Hydrological Processes 26(12):1840-1860. doi: 10.1002/hyp.9283
- Silins, U., Bladon, K.D., Kelly, E.N., Esch, E. ... Tichkowsky, I. 2014. Five-year legacy of wildfire and salvage logging impacts on nutrient runoff and aquatic plant, invertebrate, and fish productivity. Ecohydrology, 7:1508-1523. doi: 10.1002/eco.1474
- Simberloff, D. and Von Holle, B. 1999. Positive interactions of nonindigenous species: invasional meltdown? Biological Invasions, 1:21-32. doi: 10.1023/A:1010086329619
- Statistics Canada. 2022. Census of Population 2021. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/index-eng.cfm
- Sutherland, K. 2006. Nitrate Contamination of Groundwater in Intensively Farmed Areas the Abbotsford-Sumas Aquifer Experience. Sea to Sky Geotechnique 2006. pp 1-8
- Tetreault, G.R., Brown, C.J.M., Bennett, C.J., Oakes, K.D., McMaster, M.E., and Servos, M.R. 2012. Fish Community Responses to Multiple Municipal Wastewater Inputs in a Watershed. Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management, 9(3):456-468. doi: 10.1002/ieam.1364

USDA. 2014. Wildfire impacts on stream sedimentation. Air, Water, and Aquatic Environments Program. http://www.fs.fed.us/rm/boise/AWAE\_home.shtml

# APPENDIX

**Table A1.** Specific metrics and data layers used to calculate landscape-driven threats for at-risk fish species as identified in COSEWIC status reports. All layers were rasterized to a 25 m resolution raster. Threat layer outputs were evaluated as a proportion of the catchment or scaled from 0 - 1 to create a risk score. Risk scores were summed to determine cumulative effect metrics.

Threat	Metric	Upstream Activity Influence	Threat Spatial Data	Notes
Aquatic Invasive Species (AIS)	Non-native species richness per Freshwater Atlas assessment watershed units (1:20,000)	No upstream activity influence	-AIS of British Columbia -Provincial Fish Observation Data -Terrestrial Incidental Data	-Non-native species records taken from Provincial Fish Observation data and Terrestrial Incidental data layers -Combined 3 datasets -Includes fish, reptile, amphibian, aquatic bird, and aquatic plant species
Sedimentation	Create binary raster of sediment sources, flow accumulate, divide raster by catchment area	Upstream activity influence	-Cut blocks -Forestry roads -Gravel roads -Agriculture -Burned areas -Mines	-Created agriculture raster (2015) land cover -Cut blocks: 10 year cutoff for harvested areas (2010 – 2021) -Forestry Roads: all roads included (retired and current); renewed sedimentation occurs when areas are resurfaced, but we do not have that information -Gravel roads: all maintained and unmaintained unpaved roads from the Provincial Digital Road Atlas -Fire: 10 year cutoff for burned areas 2010 – 2021 -Mines: all mines included in provincial digitized orthophoto land cover layer
Riparian zone disturbance	-Create 30m buffer to delineate	No upstream	Urban/impervious surfaces	-Urban and agriculture raster (2015) land cover

	<ul> <li>'riparian zone' around streams, lakes, and large rivers.</li> <li>-Create binary raster of sources of disturbance within the riparian zone</li> <li>-Create binary raster of disturbed and undisturbed riparian areas</li> </ul>	activity influence	-Agriculture -Mines -Paved and unpaved roads -Defoliating pest infestation areas -Burned areas -Cut blocks -Rail lines	-Mines: all mines included in provincial digitized orthophoto land cover layer -All roads from the provincial Digital Road Atlas and forestry roads -Provincial areas of defoliating pest infestations: 10 year cutoff (2010 – 2021); severe and very severe infestation levels -Fire: 10 year cutoff for burned areas 2010 – 2021 -Cut blocks: 10 year cutoff for harvested areas (2010 – 2021)
Nutrients	Create binary raster of nutrient sources, flow accumulate, divide raster by catchment area	Upstream activity influence	-Agriculture land cover -Forest fires -Cut blocks -Waste water discharge areas -Defoliating pest infestation areas	-Created agriculture land cover classes from 2015 land cover layer -Fire: 10 year cutoff for burned areas 2010-2021 -Cut blocks : 10 year cutoff, 2010-2021 -All active waste water discharge areas -Provincial areas of defoliating pest infestations: 10 year cutoff (2010 – 2021); severe and very severe infestation levels
Pollution	Create binary raster of pollution sources, flow accumulate, divide raster by catchment area	Upstream activity influence	-Urban land cover -Agriculture land cover -Paved roads -Mines -Waste water discharge areas	-Created urban and agriculture land cover classes from 2015 land cover layer -Paved roads from provincial Digital Road Atlas -Mines: all mines included in provincial digitized orthophoto land cover layer

				-All active waste water discharge areas
Physical destruction of habitat (Aquatic)	-Identify areas where roads cross streams -Create binary raster of sources of disturbance within aquatic habitat -Create binary raster of disturbed and undisturbed aquatic habitat	No upstream activity influence	-All Roads -Mines -BC Dams	-All roads from the Provincial Digital Road Atlas -Mines: all mines included in provincial digitized orthophoto land cover layer that are within 30 m of water courses
Habitat fragmentation	Calculated on a per species habitat basis. For each species, fragmentation is calculated as the number of barriers present per habitat patch	No upstream activity influence	-BC Dams	

Habitat	Threat	Min	Max	Mean	SE
Patch					
1	Nutrients	0.058	0.074	0.063	0.000
	Pollution	0.002	0.020	0.015	0.002
	Sedimentation	0.087	0.112	0.093	0.002
	Physical destruction	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	of habitat				
	Riparian zone	0.000	0.333	0.127	0.034
	disturbance				
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation				
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.091	0.017	0.011
	species (scaled)				
	Cumulative effects	0.164	0.502	0.315	0.035
	score				

**Table A2:** Chinook Salmon threat and cumulative effect scores calculated from 11 total stream reaches within one continuous habitat patch.

**Table A3:** Coastrange Sculpin threat and cumulative effect scores calculated from 8 stream reaches creating one continuous habitat patch.

Habitat	Threat	Min	Max	Mean	SE
Patch					
1	Nutrients	0.052	0.090	0.067	0.005
	Pollution	0.066	0.099	0.079	0.004
	Sedimentation	0.064	0.010	0.078	0.004
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	0.375	0.130	0.047
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.182	0.023	0.023
	Cumulative effects score	0.224	0.572	0.376	0.046

Table A4: Mountain Sucker threat and cumulative effect scores calculated from 60 stream	n
reaches creating one continuous habitat patch.	

Habitat	Threat	Min	Max	Mean	SE
Patch					
1	Nutrients	0.000	0.544	0.082	0.016
	Pollution	0.006	0.763	0.098	0.022
	Sedimentation	0.002	0.559	0.109	0.015
	Physical destruction	0.000	0.007	0.000	0.000
	of habitat				
	Riparian zone	0.000	1.000	0.210	0.028
	disturbance				
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation				
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.364	0.030	0.010
	species (scaled)				
	Cumulative effects	0.093	2.533	0.529	0.065
	score				

**Table A5:** Sockeye Salmon threat and cumulative effect scores calculated from 19 stream

 reaches creating three continuous habitat patches.

Habitat Patch	Threat	Min	Max	Mean	SE
All	Nutrients	0.000	0.101	0.056	0.009
	Pollution	0.000	0.111	0.053	0.008
	Sedimentation	0.000	0.152	0.082	0.012
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.125	0.013	0.000
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	0.375	0.095	0.024
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.182	0.024	0.012
	Cumulative effects score	0.002	0.572	0.323	0.038
1	Nutrients	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Pollution	0.000	0.065	0.017	0.016
	Sedimentation	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.001
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.023	0.006	0.006
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	0.118	0.037	0.028
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.091	0.023	0.023
	Cumulative effects score	0.002	0.206	0.083	0.045
2	Nutrients	0.000	0.101	0.076	0.015
	Pollution	0.028	0.111	0.044	0.012
	Sedimentation	0.098	0.152	0.135	0.009
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.125	0.031	0.018
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	0.191	0.089	0.032
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.091	0.026	0.017

	Cumulative effects	0.289	0.526	0.401	0.037
	score				
3	Nutrients	0.052	0.090	0.067	0.005
	Pollution	0.066	0.099	0.079	0.004
	Sedimentation	0.064	0.010	0.078	0.004
	Physical destruction	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	of habitat				
	Riparian zone	0.000	0.375	0.130	0.047
	disturbance				
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation				
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.182	0.023	0.023
	species (scaled)				
	Cumulative effects	0.224	0.572	0.376	0.046
	score				

**Table A6:** Green Sturgeon threat and cumulative effect scores calculated from 44 stream reaches creating six continuous habitat patches.

Habitat Patch	Threat	Min	Max	Mean	SE
All	Nutrients	0.000	0.364	0.097	0.018
	Pollution	0.000	0.923	0.324	0.050
	Sedimentation	0.000	0.482	0.134	0.022
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.018	0.001	0.00
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	0.857	0.174	0.030
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	1.000	0.136	0.032
	Cumulative effects score	0.002	2.190	0.867	0.100
1	Nutrients	0.051	0.082	0.061	0.007
	Pollution	0.760	0.796	0.784	0.008
	Sedimentation	0.058	0.159	0.119	0.022
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.004	0.002	0.001
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.029	0.204	0.104	0.043
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	1.000	0.318	0.231
	Cumulative effects score	0.999	2.190	1.388	0.272
2	Nutrients	0.000	0.364	0.174	0.032
	Pollution	0.000	0.791	0.394	0.069
	Sedimentation	0.000	0.482	0.224	0.040
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.018	0.001	0.001
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	0.442	0.200	0.035
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.364	0.129	0.030

	Cumulative effects	0.091	2.029	1.123	0.146
3	Nutrients	0.000	0.092	0.051	0.015
	Pollution	0.114	0.923	0.363	0.119
	Sedimentation	0.036	0.117	0.091	0.011
	Physical destruction	0.000	0.008	0.002	0.001
	of habitat				
	Riparian zone	0.000	0.857	0.292	0.108
	disturbance				
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation				
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.727	0.202	0.094
	species (scaled)				
	Cumulative effects	0.330	1.857	1.002	0.166
	score				
4	Nutrients	0.104	0.104	0.104	0.104
	Pollution	0.136	0.136	0.136	0.136
	Sedimentation	0.131	0.131	0.131	0.131
	Physical destruction	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
	of habitat				
	Riparian zone	0.161	0.161	0.161	0.161
	disturbance	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation				
	(scaled)	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
	Aquatic invasive	0.091	0.091	0.091	0.091
	<u>Species (scaled)</u>	0.624	0.624	0.624	0.624
		0.024	0.024	0.024	0.024
5	Nutrionto	0.104	0.104	0.104	0.104
5	Dellution	0.104	0.104	0.104	0.104
	Sedimentation	0.120	0.120	0.120	0.120
	Physical destruction	0.131	0.131	0.131	0.131
	of habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Riparian zone	0.224	0.224	0.224	0.224
	disturbance				
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation				
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	species (scaled)				
	Cumulative effects	0.584	0.584	0.584	0.584
	score				
6	Nutrients	0.000	0.010	0.005	0.002

Pollution	0.000	0.061	0.010	0.006
Sedimentation	0.000	0.017	0.009	0.003
Physical destruction	0.000	0.004	0.000	0.000
of habitat				
Riparian zone	0.000	0.313	0.043	0.031
disturbance				
Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
fragmentation				
(scaled)				
Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.273	0.036	0.028
species (scaled)				
Cumulative effects	0.002	0.612	0.104	0.058
score				

**Table A7:** White Sturgeon threat and cumulative effect scores calculated from 45 stream reaches creating six continuous habitat patches.

Habitat Patch	Threat	Min	Max	Mean	SE
All	Nutrients	0.000	0.596	0.086	0.020
	Pollution	0.009	0.680	0.105	0.026
	Sedimentation	0.002	0.598	0.115	0.019
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.007	0.000	0.000
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	0.944	0.188	0.031
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive Species (scaled)	0.000	0.455	0.028	0.013
	Cumulative effects score	0.093	2.229	0.523	0.075
1	Nutrients	0.207	0.207	0.207	0.207
	Pollution	0.455	0.455	0.455	0.455
	Sedimentation	0.222	0.222	0.222	0.222
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.185	0.185	0.185	0.185
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.455	0.455	0.455	0.455
	Cumulative effects score	1.526	1.526	1.526	1.526
2	Nutrients	0.065	0.596	0.234	0.077
	Pollution	0.042	0.680	0.299	0.106
	Sedimentation	0.094	0.598	0.256	0.073
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.001
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	0.288	0.136	0.041
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.273	0.091	0.040

	Cumulative effects	0.239	2.229	1.016	0.270
2	Score Nutrionto	0.052	0.292	0.200	0.070
3	Pollution	0.033	0.382	0.288	0.079
	Sedimentation	0.044	0.431	0.320	0.093
	Physical destruction	0.080	0.404	0.012	0.078
	of habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Rinarian zone	0.056	0.330	0.185	0.062
	disturbance	0.050	0.550	0.105	0.002
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	species (scaled)	0.000	01000	0.000	0.000
	Cumulative effects	0.293	1.499	1.106	0.280
	score				
4	Nutrients	0.004	0.044	0.018	0.003
	Pollution	0.016	0.053	0.038	0.003
	Sedimentation	0.014	0.117	0.056	0.008
	Physical destruction	0.000	0.007	0.001	0.001
	of habitat				
	Riparian zone	0.000	0.571	0.160	0.059
	disturbance				
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation				
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	species (scaled)				
	Cumulative effects	0.093	0.673	0.273	0.057
	score				
5	Nutrients	0.000	0.038	0.031	0.008
	Pollution	0.023	0.063	0.031	0.008
	Sedimentation	0.002	0.067	0.054	0.013
	Physical destruction	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	of habitat	0.000	0.007	0.170	0.040
	Riparian zone	0.000	0.287	0.158	0.049
	disturbance	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	(scaled)				
	(scaleu)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	species (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	<u>Species (scaleu)</u>	0.129	0.415	0.274	0.052
	score	0.128	0.413	0.274	0.055
6	Nutrients	0.020	0.037	0.030	0.001
0	11011101115	0.020	0.037	0.030	0.001

Pollution	0.009	0.027	0.020	0.002
Sedimentation	0.007	0.078	0.061	0.004
Physical destruction	0.000	0.004	0.000	0.000
of habitat				
Riparian zone	0.000	0.944	0.233	0.067
disturbance				
Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
fragmentation				
(scaled)				
Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.182	0.010	0.010
species (scaled)				
Cumulative effects	0.106	1.056	0.354	0.067
score				

**Table A8:** Nooksack Dace threat and cumulative effect scores calculated from 32 stream reaches creating six continuous habitat patches.

Habitat Patch	Threat	Min	Max	Mean	SE
All	Nutrients	0.000	0.521	0.171	0.021
	Pollution	0.394	0.835	0.612	0.021
	Sedimentation	0.040	0.531	0.207	0.021
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.333	0.044	0.011
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	1.000	0.374	0.051
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.667	0.010	0.012
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.636	0.139	0.027
	Cumulative effects score	0.764	2.422	1.557	0.075
1	Nutrients	0.000	0.002	0.001	0.001
	Pollution	0.593	0.782	0.733	0.047
	Sedimentation	0.040	0.094	0.077	0.012
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.028	0.333	0.127	0.071
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.092	0.583	0.328	0.133
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.333	0.083	0.084
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.091	0.636	0.295	0.131
	Cumulative effects score	1.351	1.934	1.644	0.119
2	Nutrients	0.086	0.521	0.225	0.026
	Pollution	0.401	0.600	0.554	0.011
	Sedimentation	0.101	0.531	0.257	0.027
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.091	0.028	0.008
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	1.000	0.412	0.083
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.364	0.136	0.031

	Cumulative effects	1.093	2.422	1.613	0.112
3	Nutrients	0.230	0.239	0.239	0.230
5	Pollution	0.237	0.237	0.530	0.239
	Sedimentation	0.301	0.301	0.301	0.301
	Physical destruction	0.019	0.001	0.019	0.019
	of habitat	0.017	0.017	0.017	0.017
	Riparian zone	0.216	0.216	0.216	0.216
	disturbance	0.210	0.210	0.210	0.210
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation		0.000	0.000	0.000
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	species (scaled)				
	Cumulative effects	1.305	1.305	1.305	1.305
	score				
4	Nutrients	0.245	0.245	0.245	0.245
	Pollution	0.689	0.689	0.689	0.689
	Sedimentation	0.454	0.454	0.454	0.454
	Physical destruction	0.149	0.149	0.149	0.149
	of habitat				
	Riparian zone	0.405	0.405	0.405	0.405
	disturbance				
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation				
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive	0.364	0.364	0.364	0.364
	species (scaled)				
	Cumulative effects	2.305	2.305	2.305	2.305
	score				
5	Nutrients	0.043	0.240	0.147	0.023
	Pollution	0.394	0.835	0.644	0.048
	Sedimentation	0.047	0.245	0.156	0.024
	Physical destruction	0.000	0.039	0.022	0.006
	of habitat				
	Riparian zone	0.060	0.850	0.353	0.096
	disturbance		0.000	0.000	
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation				
	(scaled)	0.000	0.100	0.051	0.022
	Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.182	0.051	0.022
	species (scaled)	0.764	1.000	1 272	0.140
	Cumulative effects	0.764	1.908	1.373	0.140
	score	0.040	0.040	0.040	0.040
0	Inutrients	0.040	0.040	0.040	0.040

Pollution	0.772	0.772	0.772	0.772
Sedimentation	0.040	0.040	0.040	0.040
Physical destruction	0.087	0.087	0.087	0.087
of habitat				
Riparian zone	0.265	0.265	0.265	0.265
disturbance				
Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
fragmentation				
(scaled)				
Aquatic invasive	0.273	0.273	0.273	0.273
species (scaled)				
Cumulative effects	1.477	1.477	1.477	1.477
score				

**Table A9:** Salish Sucker threat and cumulative effect scores calculated from 202 stream reaches creating 15 continuous habitat patches.

Habitat Patch	Threat	Min	Max	Mean	SE
All	Nutrients	0.000	0.901	0.256	0.012
	Pollution	0.004	1.000	0.506	0.016
	Sedimentation	0.000	0.909	0.277	0.012
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.500	0.031	0.004
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	1.000	0.390	0.022
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.667	0.010	0.005
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.818	0.095	0.011
	Cumulative effects score	0.056	3.785	1.566	0.051
1	Nutrients	0.024	0.426	0.238	0.016
	Pollution	0.359	0.678	0.463	0.016
	Sedimentation	0.026	0.442	0.273	0.016
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.091	0.022	0.005
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	0.914	0.283	0.064
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.333	0.013	0.013
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.818	0.080	0.037
	Cumulative effects score	0.835	2.501	1.372	0.079
2	Nutrients	0.521	0.521	0.521	0.521
	Pollution	0.600	0.600	0.600	0.600
	Sedimentation	0.531	0.531	0.531	0.531
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.023	0.023	0.023	0.023
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.383	0.383	0.383	0.383
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.364	0.364	0.364	0.364

	Cumulative effects	2.422	2.422	2.422	2.422
3	Nutrients	0.239	0.239	0.239	0.239
5	Pollution	0.530	0.530	0.530	0.530
	Sedimentation	0.301	0.301	0.301	0.301
	Physical destruction	0.019	0.019	0.019	0.019
	of habitat	0.017	0.017	0.017	0.017
	Riparian zone	0.216	0.216	0.216	0.216
	disturbance	01210	0.210	0.210	0.210
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation				
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	species (scaled)				
	Cumulative effects	1.305	1.305	1.305	1.305
	score				
4	Nutrients	0.368	0.483	0.425	0.057
	Pollution	0.606	0.776	0.691	0.085
	Sedimentation	0.412	0.523	0.468	0.056
	Physical destruction	0.000	0.136	0.068	0.068
	of habitat				
	Riparian zone	0.483	0.483	0.483	0.000
	disturbance				
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation				
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	species (scaled)	1.0.40			<u> </u>
	Cumulative effects	1.868	2.402	2.135	0.267
	score	0.047	<u> </u>	0.047	<u> </u>
5	Nutrients	0.245	0.245	0.245	0.245
	Pollution	0.689	0.689	0.689	0.689
	Sedimentation	0.454	0.454	0.454	0.454
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.149	0.149	0.149	0.149
	Riparian zone	0.405	0.405	0.405	0.405
	disturbance	01100	01102	0.100	01102
	Habitat	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	fragmentation	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive	0.364	0.364	0.364	0.364
	species (scaled)				
	Cumulative effects	2.305	2.305	2.305	2.305
	score				
6	Nutrients	0.000	0.364	0.091	0.026

	Pollution	0.333	1.000	0.724	0.041
	Sedimentation	0.000	0.390	0.096	0.027
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.500	0.110	0.036
	Riparian zone	0.000	0.850	0.333	0.068
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.273	0.064	0.020
	Cumulative effects score	0.654	2.133	1.420	0.102
7	Nutrients	0.078	0.348	0.189	0.021
	Pollution	0.101	0.584	0.497	0.033
	Sedimentation	0.092	0.401	0.222	0.024
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.175	0.033	0.012
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	1.000	0.358	0.091
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.455	0.142	0.031
	Cumulative effects score	0.500	2.435	1.441	0.137
8	Nutrients	0.000	0.744	0.248	0.019
	Pollution	0.056	0.892	0.458	0.021
	Sedimentation	0.000	0.767	0.263	0.019
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.143	0.019	0.004
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	1.000	0.389	0.046
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.545	0.039	0.012
	Cumulative effects score	0.056	3.459	1.416	0.083
9	Nutrients	0.153	0.328	0.230	0.041
	Pollution	0.241	0.546	0.391	0.068
	Sedimentation	0.202	0.341	0.256	0.032
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.071	0.035	0.015
----	--------------------------------------	-------	-------	-------	-------
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	0.228	0.068	0.055
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.273	0.091	0.065
	Cumulative effects score	0.713	1.569	1.070	0.189
10	Nutrients	0.527	0.527	0.527	0.527
	Pollution	0.884	0.884	0.884	0.884
	Sedimentation	0.529	0.529	0.529	0.529
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.021	0.021	0.021	0.021
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.939	0.939	0.939	0.939
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.182	0.182	0.182	0.182
	Cumulative effects score	3.082	3.082	3.082	3.082
11	Nutrients	0.007	0.901	0.328	0.034
	Pollution	0.080	0.982	0.681	0.039
	Sedimentation	0.016	0.909	0.346	0.033
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.182	0.025	0.007
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.095	1.000	0.491	0.053
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.333	0.011	0.011
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.545	0.124	0.025
	Cumulative effects score	0.648	3.785	2.007	0.126
12	Nutrients	0.014	0.716	0.283	0.061
	Pollution	0.016	0.874	0.379	0.071
	Sedimentation	0.018	0.717	0.299	0.059
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.062	0.032	0.005
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.248	0.860	0.539	0.042

	Habitat fragmentation	0.000	0.667	0.062	0.045
	(scaled)				
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.818	0.182	0.061
	Cumulative effects	0.558	3.191	1.774	0.219
13	Nutrients	0.275	0.710	0 469	0.090
10	Pollution	0.722	0.855	0.798	0.034
	Sedimentation	0.293	0.711	0.479	0.087
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.040	0.010	0.010
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.143	0.565	0.402	0.093
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.364	0.205	0.078
	Cumulative effects score	2.005	3.113	2.364	0.253
14	Nutrients	0.085	0.742	0.322	0.059
	Pollution	0.004	0.852	0.369	0.076
	Sedimentation	0.103	0.743	0.342	0.056
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.091	0.017	0.006
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	1.000	0.483	0.086
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.333	0.022	0.022
	Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.273	0.152	0.021
	Cumulative effects score	0.486	3.523	1.707	0.264
15	Nutrients	0.019	0.388	0.231	0.037
	Pollution	0.014	0.521	0.276	0.055
	Sedimentation	0.019	0.403	0.255	0.035
	Physical destruction of habitat	0.000	0.067	0.018	0.006
	Riparian zone disturbance	0.000	0.870	0.209	0.089
	Habitat fragmentation (scaled)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000

Aquatic invasive species (scaled)	0.000	0.182	0.050	0.023
Cumulative effects	0.188	2.181	1.038	0.196
score				